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Introduction

AFEW YEARS AGO I RECEIVED A PHONE CALL from an acquaintance I had made at a film festival, resulting in the following conversation:

“You might want to check this out. Some cocky young author has written an article about your father insinuating that your grandmother was a doxy.”

“A what?”

“A chippy, a tart, a … houri!”

“What?”

“Oh! And that she had syphilis.”

“WHAT?”

“Yeah, well, I put it in the post for you. Check it out.”

I had dinner with my stepson that night. I told him, “Apparently some jerk has published an article calling my grandmother a syphilitic whore!”

My stepson was nonplussed and practical: “Well, get in touch with whoever wrote it, thank him for the information, then tell him that by the way, your grandmother worked in the same establishment as his grandmother, his mother, his sisters, aunts, and all his female cousins!!!”

The article arrived in the mail a few days later. Its cocky young author turned out to be a notable psychoanalyst, Stephen Weissman, M.D. The article was riveting and perceptive and diligently researched. (It has since been published in Richard Schickel’s The Essential Chaplin.) It also rang true. I was duly shocked. I was intrigued.

I phoned a friend who is the “Central Intelligence authority” on who is doing what on Chaplin—the Langley of Chapliniana. I asked him if he had heard of Steve Weissman.

“Weissman? The shrink? Sure have! He’s had your father on the couch for years!” A posthumous psychoanalysis of my father? Oh dear! “He’s doing a book. Something special. Big-time, if you ask me.”

To make a long story short, I contacted Dr. Weissman, who confirmed that he was writing a book and promised to send it to me when it was finished. He kept his promise and here is the book.

It is unlike anything that has ever been written about my father. Weissman weaves a psychologically astute narrative of Chaplin’s life and art, brilliantly exploring the relationships between experience and creativity.

A mixture of gritty social history, romance, and medical science, the book begins with Weissman dissecting Chaplin’s parents’ tempestuous courtship and disastrous marriage, coming to surprising conclusions. He then takes us into the world of the Victorian music hall. He is an expert, giving wonderful anecdotes about George Leybourne, Alfred Peck Stevens (the Great Vance), Joe Saunders, the male impersonators Vesta Tilly, Nellie Power, Ella Shields. He brings to life the streets of South London, the grim Hanwell orphanage, and finally, with a fresh insight, the Hollywood of the teens and the twenties.

Did Chaplin spin personal tragedy into universal comedy, creating the Little Tramp as a parody and a memorialization of his alcoholic father? Are Chaplin’s film heroines sublimated, half-remembered, half-repressed memories of his tragic and adored mother? Weissman probes into the psychological explanation of the closest human bonds. It is uncanny how intuitively correct a trained outside investigator’s conclusions can turn out to be.

This book, always provocative and at times heart-wrenching, is an enlightening read, an important addition to an understanding of my father’s genius and art, and a unique meditation on the mystery of creativity.

—Geraldine Chaplin


Chaplin
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A Family Romance

THE ENTRY IN THE REGISTER of the Hanwell School for Orphans and Destitute Children reads:

Chaplin, Charles, aged 7, Protestant. 
Admitted on the 18th June, 1896.1

He made the twelve-mile trip to the orphanage in a horse-drawn bakery van. Rattling and bumping along lanes lined with chestnut trees, past orchards and wheat fields, the wagon rolled through the fragrant green English countryside. For the seven-year-old, it was a breath of fresh air compared to the grim, gray pavements and thick, smoky fog of the stifling tenement slums of South London from which he had come. Even years later as a grown man, Chaplin could recall the adventure of that van ride. 

Until, that is, he was greeted by the first harsh intimations of the starkly regimented life that awaited him. Before donning their scratchy school uniforms, new children were routinely stripped, inspected, and deloused in order to prevent outbreaks of verminous epidemics. Young Charlie soon became one of a sorry group of thirty-five plucked youngsters who suffered the stigma of shaven, iodined heads and miserable quarantine that year.

Far worse than the combined ringworm and delousing regimen was the loss of his mother. With wisdom and compassion, the Lambeth Board of Guardians shipped Charlie off to Hanwell accompanied by Sydney, his older half brother and protector. But after four short months the Hanwell authorities decided that Sydney should be transferred to another institution where he could learn a trade, now that he had turned twelve and was preparing to make his own way in the world.

It was then for the first but not the last time that young Charlie Chaplin found himself desolate and utterly alone. Fourteen months feels like an eternity for a child that age, and Chaplin always remembered this period as one of the most unhappy in his life.

After returning to Hanwell thirty-odd years later at the height of his success, he told a friend:

I wouldn’t have missed it for all I possess. It’s what I’ve been wanting. God, you feel like the dead returning to the earth. To smell the smell of the dining hall, and to remember that was where you sat.… Only it wasn’t you. It was you in another life — your soul-mate — something you were and something you aren’t now. Like a snake that sheds its skin every now and then. It’s one of the skins you’ve shed, but it’s still got your odour about it. O-oh, it was wonderful. When I got there I knew it was what I’d been wanting for years. Everything had been leading up to it, and I was ripe for it.… Being among those buildings and connecting with everything — with the misery and something that wasn’t misery.2

Fortunately for moviegoers, some of the skins Chaplin shed in the intervening years were made of celluloid. If you include all those old one- and two-reelers starting with Sennett and the Keystone days, along with seven or eight full-length film classics, they amount to more than eighty films — a remarkable number of moltings, even for Charlie, who lived to the age of eighty-eight and proudly fathered ten children of his own.

Sifting through Chaplin’s celluloid moltings, it’s not hard to pick up the scent of his childhood. Of course there’s still room to wonder about the precise details. Was the Hanwell School bakery truck a closed van like the one that hauled off the recently orphaned gamine (Paulette Goddard) in Modern Times? Or was it an open, flat-bedded affair like the one in which the foundling (Jackie Coogan) got shipped off to the orphanage in The Kid? And if Chaplin’s orphanage-haunted memories of delousing were not the source of his endless preoccupation with that wonderful fleacircus gag that eventually found its way into Calvero the clown’s comeback performance in Limelight, where did it come from?

Calvero’s oscillations between a flea-bitten tramp apologetically scratching himself and an expert trainer of acrobatic insects proudly placing his personal corps de ballet on display is executed with comic brilliance. But to say Chaplin mastered his old orphanage terror of being discovered flea-ridden by transforming it into a piece of exhibitionistic funny business does little to advance our understanding of how the creative process operated. Such a crude interpretation relies entirely upon Freud’s primer on the psychology of jokes to explain the subtle mechanisms of comedy. It assumes that the comic mind operates as a seething id-cauldron automatically transforming childhood fears into schoolboy gags which are periodically belched and farted up from the steamy depths of the unconscious.

Of course, like everyone else, including his audience, Charlie did think along the lines of this eructatative-flatulent model of slapstick humor. When he was hot, Chaplin came up with a gag a minute. Sometimes his boiling brain overflowed at such a rate that the studio stenographers couldn’t keep up with him. But at those times he was only mining his unconscious for the raw material of humor. The subtler process of comic refinement operated at an entirely different pace, with artistic methods and a timetable of its own.

For instance, it took more than thirty years from the original conception and filming of that flea gag before it found its way, uncut, into a finished film. Studio notes reveal that Chaplin first shot that idea while making The Kid — a most fitting occasion from a free-associative point of view, since it was his first film that dealt with his orphanage experiences as a child. But funny as it was, the gag didn’t work in that film and ended up on the cutting-room floor.

Later, on at least three separate filmmaking occasions (The Circus, The Great Dictator, and an incomplete work, The Professor), Chaplin toyed with but resisted the temptation to use the flea routine. Judging from scant remaining footage of The Professor, revealing Charlie in a flophouse scene as Professor Bosco, the impresario of his own corporeal flea circus, the gag was going to serve as the comic centerpiece for that film. Interestingly, Chaplin family tradition had it that, at the time of Charlie’s birth in London, Charlie Sr. was out of town playing Professor Bosco’s Empire Palace of Varieties in Hull. But even though he had connected his cherished flea gag with memories of his dead father, Chaplin still did not feel ready to use it. As a colleague once put it, “Chaplin had a mind like an attic. Everything was stored away in case it ever came in handy.”3

The flea gag didn’t find its place in one of his movies until he made Limelight, the film in which he belatedly came to terms with his parents’ marriage and his conflicted feelings toward his alcoholic father, whom he had always blamed for their family falling apart. It was a time in Chaplin’s life when, at the age of sixty-three, he had finally begun to settle into a stable family situation of his own. Having at last set aside his lifelong ambivalence about marriage and fatherhood, he felt the need to put some painful memories of his own father to rest.

Also woven into those fictionalized recollections of the man whose name he bore and whose trade he plied was Chaplin’s mounting fear that, like his father before him, he too was about to be spurned and forgotten by his once-doting public. And so when Chaplin made Limelight, his final opus, he created the character of Calvero the clown — a composite of himself and his father, a faded music hall star and flea-bitten has-been. While filming both a magnificent final comeback for himself and a forgiving tribute to his father’s memory, Chaplin brought the flea business back to where it began. For as seven-year-old Charlie well knew, he would never have had to deal with fleas and orphanages in the first place if it had not been for his father’s refusal to rescue his mother from the Lambeth poorhouse.

Hannah Hill Chaplin’s precipitous decline from headliner to breadliner was a devastating defeat for the formerly “light-hearted and gay” music hall comedienne,4 better known to her fans and admirers as “that charming little chanter, Lillie Harley”5 — or Lily Harley, the usual spelling. After losing her singing voice, her theatrical bookings, her sons, and her pluck, she ultimately plunged from poorhouse to madhouse, where she was labeled both a lunatic and a pauper, much to her young son’s dismay.

While half blaming his alcoholically impaired father for not coming to his mother’s aid, the small boy couldn’t shake a nagging feeling “that she had deliberately escaped from her mind and had deserted us.”6 Except for two brief remissions, the former songbird spent the rest of her life as a madwoman who, having regained her singing voice, sometimes required the soundproofing of a padded seclusion cell because of her theatrical tendency to belt out militant Christian marching songs on inauspicious occasions.

Preferring to drown his disappointments over his waning theatrical career, Charlie’s father drank himself to death by the time Charlie was twelve. Left to make his way alone at an early age, the son of these two once semisuccessful vaudevillians on occasion had to sleep on the streets, busk for pennies to the tune of hurdy-gurdies, and scavenge for his supper. But ever mindful of his former station in life even in the face of dire poverty, he desperately struggled to keep up a facade of shabby gentility in order not to lose that most precious of all Englishmen’s possessions, his sense of social class. Once, on unexpectedly encountering a former playmate, young Charlie casually dismissed his tattered and patched appearance by ad-libbing that he was just on his way home from a carpentry lesson. But inwardly the youngster cringed at the sorry spectacle of his own poverty and daydreamed of creating a successful vaudeville act playing a millionaire tramp.

Like Dickens, who was haunted by his boyhood encounter with the bootblacking factory and his parents’ stint in debtor’s prison, Charlie Chaplin never forgot his family’s calamitous plunge into poverty and those feral moments of his childhood spent on the streets of South London. He recalled them over and over again in his immortal persona the Little Tramp. Not only did Charlie’s character relive and sometimes triumph over his boyhood tribulations, but at times his tramp also appeared determined to correct the respective plights of Chaplin’s parents, albeit with slapstick.

In spite of his puny, ineffectual appearance, Charlie’s wobbly, waddling tramp-hero brings a ferocious determination to the saving of wistful young women beset by poverty, unemployment, loneliness, institutionalization, incurable physical illness, prostitution, stolen babies, and other dire predicaments. And when under the influence, as he was on at least a dozen separate filmmaking occasions, Chaplin’s Little Tramp weaves his woozy way through booby-trapped obstacle courses filled with lethal pitfalls and comic pratfalls designed to destroy all but the most nimble of alcoholics. Through choreographic miracles of their creator’s invention, Chaplin’s drunks are always watched over and kept from harm’s way by their guardian angel.

In his most memorable final fade-outs, the Little Tramp shuffles offscreen into the sunset, desolate and alone. What is most striking about Chaplin’s nostalgic renderings both of his family and of the lonely predicaments of his boyhood in these scenes is the bittersweetness of his comic vision and the remarkably forgiving way in which he commemorated his feckless parents.
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Family Secrets



I once had in mind a picture which was a burlesque of sentimentality. The opening scene was a long, long stair. The camera was following an old lady carrying a bucket of water. Struggling up each step, you know, painful with rheumatism, getting to one landing, and up another. And when she gets on the fourth or the fifth landing, a man suddenly opens a door and hits her a terrific punch right in the face. He turns white, says, “Oh, I beg your pardon, lady. I thought you were my mother.” And she says, “You have a mother?” He weeps and says, “Yes, I have a mother.”

— Chaplin1

CHARLIE CHAPLIN’S STAGESTRUCK COCKNEY PARENTS met in 1881 while touring in a provincial theatrical production of Shamus O’Brien, an Irish melodrama. For the teenage would-be music hall stars, landing roles in the play marked the start of promising show business careers. Meeting so auspiciously lent a magical quality to their backstage romance, which in turn helped fuel their attraction to one another. As their son Charlie put it at age seventy-five, they were very soon “sweethearts.”2

Their mutually idealizing experience — encountering a professional and social counterpart at such a critical turning point — was like gazing into a looking glass and discovering a soul mate. Their roller-coaster romance, tempestuous courtship, and disastrous marriage began with this adolescent infatuation. It was a case of first love mistaken for true love.

That these two ambitious Londoners came from such similar working-class backgrounds contributed to the illusion of ideal compatibility. He was a butcher’s son, she a shoemaker’s daughter. But despite their shared dream of self-betterment, they were fundamentally different people. When she jilted him in 1883 and ran off to South Africa to marry a wealthy member of the British aristocracy whom she had just met, Chaplin’s mother revealed just how far her social ambitions exceeded his father’s. His father (referred to henceforth as Charlie Chaplin Sr.) set his sights on becoming a music hall star. But Hannah Hill had bigger fish to fry.

If we read between the lines, theatrical success was a stepping-stone to much grander, if not grandiose, life plans. The stage name she picked — Lily Harley — suggests the extent of her determination to rise above her station in life.

Vivacious, flirtatious, and impulsive, the sixteen-year-old Hannah had just run away from home. Nothing if not a risk taker, she determined to escape the usual fate of a teenage working-class girl in South London. Rather than resign herself to the vocational and social dead ends to which unmarried young women of her class were routinely consigned in the rigidly class-conscious world that was late-nineteenth-century London, she hoped to baffle destiny by becoming Lily Harley. That gamble was a terrible risk. But if her luck held up, she hoped to become a romantic adventuress just like the famous actress whose name she echoed in her own. Lily Harley yearned to become the next Lillie Langtry.

Better known to her adoring public as the Jersey Lily, Langtry was a renowned actress who had been a mistress of the Prince of Wales, the future Edward VII, whom she playfully addressed as “Bertie.” As Lily Harley well knew, Langtry’s life was living proof that commoners and kings could mingle freely. Or, as Hannah Hill probably reasoned to herself before deciding to run away from home and seek a career in the theater, talented young actresses of Langtry’s ilk could end up marrying wealthy aristocrats if they met the right people and got the right breaks.

Along with Lillie Langtry, two other women served as inspirational fixations for Lily Harley’s teenage dream of emancipation via an expert blend of sexual seductiveness and feminine wiles. One was Josephine de Beauharnais, who, a hundred years earlier, had conquered the most powerful man on the Continent and parlayed her conquest into becoming empress of France.

The other figure in Lily’s pantheon of female seductresses was a young woman who grew up in the slums of seventeenth-century London, Nell Gwyn. The Cockney-born actress and former child prostitute had ended up as royal mistress to Charles II, whose reign had marked the end of Oliver Cromwell’s austere Puritan revolution. Defiantly proud of her loyal service to her beloved monarch, Nell delighted in describing herself as “His Majesty’s Protestant whore.” And she was equally proud of bearing the royal bastard, the Duke of St. Albans.

Chaplin later recalled a vivid childhood memory of a full-length, life-size portrait of Nell Gwyn that had a place of honor in his mother’s front room when he was a child of two or three. He also recalled his own fascination a few years later as a spellbound seven-year-old, when his mother was more economically pressed, watching her improvisations of scenes from Gwyn’s life that she performed in their one-room slum garret for his edification and her own amusement: “She would enact Nell Gwyn, vividly describing her leaning over the palace stairs holding her baby, threatening Charles II: ‘Give this child a name, or I’ll dash it to the ground!’ And King Charles hastily concurring: ‘All right! The duke of St.Albans.’”3

Minus the life-size portrait, similar improvisational sketches were also accorded to Lily’s other favorite, Josephine de Beauharnais. Lily’s performances of scenes featuring Napoleon and Josephine for seven-year-old Charlie were so unforgettable that many years later he periodically toyed with film treatments and screenplays for possible movies about Napoleon’s life.

And in a remarkable real-life scenario that a thirty-five-year-old Chaplin arranged in 1924 with a sixteen-year-old aspiring actress, he insisted she play Josephine to his Napoleon while he initiated her into sex in his boudoir. Not unlike the original Beauharnais-Bonaparte relationship, the question of who conquered whom is entirely debatable. Subsequently forced to marry that starstruck, status-seeking teenager after the seduction resulted in an unplanned pregnancy that she refused to terminate, Chaplin placed her on prominent public display at a fabulous costume ball at William Randolph Hearst’s palatial home, where they dressed in historically authentic Napoleon and Josephine costumes (designed and sewn by the wardrobe department of his film studio). Rather than admit to the Hollywood community the mortifying truth, that the great Chaplin had met his Waterloo in the bedroom of his Hollywood mansion, the star saw this flamboyant display of his new Josephine as a public relations ploy that would quell the widely circulating rumors of his secret shotgun wedding by depicting their marriage as both voluntary and happy.

The entire Napoleon-Josephine display in 1924 can also be seen as an unconscious reenactment of his star-crossed parents’ courtship and marriage in the early 1880s. The crucial psychological importance of Charlie Chaplin Sr. as the original Napoleon figure for Chaplin’s midlife drama cannot be overestimated. Without him, or Charlie’s image of him, it would have be an entirely different story.

Chaplin’s mother undoubtedly envisioned herself as Josephine in her performances for her son back in 1896. But Lily’s enactments of famous historical scenes from Bonaparte’s life, coupled with her romanticized description of Charlie Sr. as resembling Napoleon, captivated the father-hungry child and satisfied his curiosity about his social origins. When young Charlie begged her on repeated occasions to tell once more the tale of how she and his absent father first met and became sweethearts while touring in Shamus O’Brien, Lily employed her well-developed powers of theatrical embroidery. She breathlessly informed Charlie that his handsome and brooding father had been a dead ringer for France’s first emperor.

One glance at a photograph of Charlie Chaplin Sr. on the sheet music cover of “The Girl Was Young and Pretty” —a masher ballad he successfully popularized at the height of his fame in the 1890s — clearly reveals that he was no Napoleon look-alike. And that observation in turn confirms that, when they first met in Shamus O’Brien, they had seen each other through the distorting lens of looking-glass love. She needed to see him as a Napoleonic consort whose looks matched her own grandiose ambitions.

Exactly how, when, and why the scales of romantic idealization first fell from Lily Harley’s eyes is unclear. Given that Charlie Chaplin Sr. died in 1901 from severe and chronic alcoholism, it is entirely possible that he had already started drinking heavily when he and Lily first met in 1881.

But considering the scope of her ambitions, it is equally possible that when she jilted Charlie’s father only three years later, it was because she was under the impression that she had just landed a bigger fish. That man was a member of the English aristocracy by the name of Sydney Hawkes. Or at least that was what he claimed to be.

Ardently pursuing eighteen-year-old Lily, Sydney Hawkes talked her into running away with him to South Africa, where they planned to get married and live on his wealthy family’s plantation estate. Instead, Lily ended up with an out-of-wedlock pregnancy and, quite likely, a case of syphilis, which she probably contracted as the result of a brief encounter with prostitution in the South African gold rush of 1884.

We know through hospital records in England that Lily was diagnosed in 1898, at age thirty-three, with psychotic symptoms caused by third-stage neurosyphilis of the brain. And she also suffered from migrainelike head pains in 1895, when she was twenty-nine. Taking into account the well-established progressive course of meningovascular syphilis and reasoning backward, it is probable that Lily Harley first contracted primary syphilis in South Africa.

We also know from South African historical records that the enticement of gullible young Cockney girls to that country with false promises of marriage, after which some of them were raped and forced into lives as white slaves in the boomtown dance halls on the Witwatersrand by fast-talking pimps from London’s East End, was a common occurrence in the much more famous gold rush of 1886. Whether a similar, if less violent, seduction scenario was also the case for Lily Harley two years earlier — when a less sustained and less lucrative gold rush had just taken place — is not known.

As to Sydney Hawkes, a Cockney con man and East End Jew who sweet-talked the ambitious gold digger from across the Thames in South London to South Africa under false pretenses, his reasons for doing so are unclear. If Hawkes was only the bookmaker that Chaplin family lore and previous Chaplin scholarship have always agreed he was, luring Lily halfway around the world at great expense and effort just to have his way with her seems unlikely.

But if “bookmaker” was a euphemism for pimp, his slick seduction of a would-be seductress by promising her the world makes perfect sense. Provided, that is, the term “pimp” is being used in a broad enough sense to include a fancy man — a fast-talking hustler who encourages a vulnerable woman’s love for him and then exploits those feelings by getting her to turn tricks with customers he provides, in order to support the two of them in the lavish style to which he is accustomed.

While it is difficult to picture Hawkes luring Harley to South Africa out of love, it seems unlikely that Lily would have named their love child Sydney after she returned to England unless she still had residual feelings for the father, even though he had lied to her and used her.

Forty years later, in 1925, Lily’s second son Charlie made a film in which his alter ego attempts to console and rescue a downhearted prostitute who is trapped and stranded in the hollow life of a good-time girl in a gold-rush boomtown saloon far from home. Chaplin claimed at the time he made it that this picture was the one for which he most wanted to be remembered by posterity.

Less a matter of conjecture are the events that followed Lily’s return from South Africa in 1884. Sadder, wiser, more than a little bit pregnant, and probably infected with syphilis, Lily wasted no time in seeking out and reestablishing contact with her former sweetheart, Chaplin Sr. Although she had no way to know it, the microorganism that causes syphilis (Treponema pallidum) may by then have been permanently lodged in her body like a silent, ticking timebomb.

Lily was first diagnosed with syphilis when she became psychotic in 1898. In the 1890s, before the Wassermann test was developed, that disease was widely known as “the great mimic.” The medical nickname underscored that syphilis could easily imitate other conditions, physical and mental. Sometimes a missed diagnosis of masquerading syphilis was made only at the time of autopsy. But in thirty-three-year-old Lily’s case, the admitting physician’s diagnostic impression that his patient was suffering from a case of syphilis masquerading as madness was probably based on his finding classic neurological signs compatible with syphilis on physical examination.

If in 1898 Lily Harley developed a syphilitic brain infection that had begun to drive her crazy, when and how did the Treponema pallidum spirochete first enter her central nervous system? That monthlong siege of unremitting headaches that Lily had developed three years earlier, in 1895, offers a possible clue. Diagnosed at the time as migraine headaches, they might actually have resulted from meningovascular syphilis. The term refers to an inflammation in the walls of the blood vessels of the brain lining, or meninges. And the inflammatory response in those blood vessels is caused by the immune system’s futile attempt to destroy the invading microorganism and prevent it from entering the brain itself. Those irritated blood vessels can cause a patient to suffer from blinding headaches, indistinguishable from regular migraines.

Indistinguishable, that is, except that typical migraine attacks don’t last a month. And in the 1890s (or the 1990s) migraine headaches didn’t result in medically indigent and otherwise healthy young women requiring monthlong hospitalizations at public expense, as Lily Harley did in 1895 in the Lambeth Infirmary. Assuming her “migraine attack” was due to a case of meningovascular syphilis and plotting backward, it is then possible to postulate that she first contracted primary syphilis eleven years earlier in South Africa in 1884. Although it could have occurred later, this timetable is compatible with the well-known chronological progression of that disease, which most frequently manifests itself five to ten years after the infection but can appear for the first time as much as thirty years later.

That none of Lily’s children developed congenital syphilis does not help pinpoint the timing of her original infection. Contrary to popular belief, syphilis at any stage in a pregnant woman does not invariably cause congenital syphilis in her child. That none of her children ever showed signs of congenital syphilis does not mean that she was free of that disease at the time of her pregnancy with that child. Nor of course is it the case that a woman had to be a prostitute in order to contract syphilis. Women who are active with only one partner their entire lives can and do contract sexually transmitted diseases.

The only medical fact we know for certain is that when Lily Harley first became psychotic in 1898, the admitting physician entered in her medical records an explanatory diagnosis of syphilis. He never specified the stage — primary, secondary, latent, or tertiary.

The first hint we have that Charlie knew about his mother’s disease came from the late-life recollections of another glamorous and promiscuous showgirl, Louise Brooks. As an eighteen-year-old starlet in the Ziegfeld Follies in 1925, she had a two-month casual fling with the married movie star in which they both knew the score from the start. Looking back on their amorous interlude many years later, Louise recalled with good-natured amusement Chaplin’s odd habit of painting his penis with iodine to protect himself from contracting a venereal disease. As she put it, “Charlie came running at me with his little red sword.”4

At the time of their affair, Chaplin had come to New York for the premier of The Gold Rush. But he remained there for two months, comfortably ensconced in a posh Manhattan hotel suite with Brooks. He stayed with Louise for such a long time in order to avoid what he perceived as the nauseating prospect of returning home to Hollywood and his money-grubbing, minnow-brained teenage wife who had recently given birth to the unwanted child that had made him so miserable.

Shortly after he and Louise parted company, Charlie sent her a hefty check (unsolicited) as the expression of his deep gratitude for her company at what had been such an extraordinarily lonely and painful time in his life despite the fabulous reception his masterpiece had received and the fact that it had made him the toast of New York. When he finally arrived back at their Beverly Hills home, his wife was completely bewildered by her insomniac husband’s taking as many as eight or ten showers and baths a day. Like Chaplin’s compulsive penis painting, his compulsive showering was probably a germ phobia. If his self-cleansing rituals were a transient case of syphilophobia, it’s noteworthy that they developed shortly after he completed The Gold Rush and established a casual sexual liaison with a sophisticated and intelligent woman of the world who was willing to love him with no strings attached.

Conclusive evidence that Charlie knew about his mother’s syphilis came from Jerry Epstein, who was a close friend of Chaplin and served as his assistant producer on Limelight. In addition to telling me of Hannah Chaplin’s syphilis, which Charlie revealed to him while working on Limelight, Epstein also put me in touch with David Robinson, who generously provided a copy of Hannah’s psychiatric records verifying that diagnosis.

Robinson omitted the story of Hannah’s syphilis in his own 1985 biography — probably out of consideration for Chaplin’s family. (As Geraldine Chaplin notes in her introduction to this book, her first reaction upon learning about my article was to assume that I was a brash biographer who was calling her grandmother “a syphilitic whore” for sensational effect.) In any case, once I published my 1996 article discussing Hannah Chaplin’s mental illness and establishing that it had been diagnosed as a case of syphilis, the story of her incurable venereal disease became a matter of public record.5

And so in 2001, when a new edition of his own Chaplin biography came out, Robinson mentioned her medical history in passing — without addressing the more controversial conjectural issues concerning her problematic sexuality raised in that article.

In an unpublished autobiographical novel, Footlights, which he later used as a treatment for the script of Limelight, Chaplin discreetly referred to his showgirl mother’s sexuality as her “tragic promiscuity.” And in the film Limelight, when the hero Calvero saves the beautiful ballet dancer-heroine Terry from a suicide attempt, he erroneously assumes that she is trying to kill herself because she has just contracted an incurable venereal disease. (Moreover, from a psychoanalytic perspective, the hysterical paralysis of Terry’s ballet dancer legs in Limelight can be understood as a classic symbolic expression of her unconscious conflicts over becoming a streetwalker, a line of work her older sister engaged in to support Terry’s training as a ballet dancer — a fact we learn from Footlights.) Equally noteworthy is the fact that Hannah Chaplin and Terry were both ballet dancers at the Empire Theatre, whose famous promenade, Charlie nostalgically recalled, was “frequented by the smartest courtesans” of the Edwardian Era.6

Returning to David Robinson’s strategic decision to steer clear of any in-depth exploration of Hannah Chaplin’s indisputable medical history of syphilis, our two biographies approach Chaplin’s life from very different viewpoints. As he put it in his 1985 preface:

Readers who like biographers to supply post-Freudian interpretations for every action and incident may be frustrated. I have no personal liking for that genre of biography; I do not feel qualified for psychoanalysis; and finally I think that Chaplin’s singular life story would defy the process.7
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Improvisations



One of my earliest recollections was that each night before Mother went to the theatre Sydney and I were lovingly tucked up in a comfortable bed and left in the care of the housemaid.…

Every night, after she came home from the theatre, it was her custom to leave delicacies on the table for Sydney and me to find in the morning — a slice of Neapolitan cake or candies — with the understanding that we were not to make a noise in the morning, as she usually slept late.

Mother was a soubrette on the variety stage, a mignonne in her late twenties, with fair complexion, violet-blue eyes and long light-brown hair that she could sit upon.… Though she was not an exceptional beauty, we thought her divine-looking.… she was dainty and attractive and had compelling charm. She took pride in dressing us up for Sunday excursions, Sydney in an Eton suit with long trousers and me in a blue velvet one with blue gloves to match. Such occasions were orgies of smugness, as we ambled along the Kennington Road.

— Chaplin, age 751

FOR THE REST OF HIS LIFE, CHAPLIN CHERISHED this nostalgic image of the emotional security and financial prosperity his family had enjoyed when he was a cosseted and pampered child of three. Four years later, a new boy at the orphanage, the seven-year-old would inform his fellow inmates that, unlike some less fortunate children, he and Sydney had parents. Nor were they charity cases whose parents had been obliged to make them permanent wards of the state. Their stay at Hanwell was to be temporary. He and Syd would be leaving as soon as their actress mother got her career back on track. Their mother was the famous music hall star Lily Harley, whose salary of twenty-five pounds per week had, until recently, provided them with a life of luxury. It might be only a matter of a few weeks, a month at most, before she would come and bring them home. They would then be back on Easy Street, or, more precisely, on Westminster Bridge Road. (Actually, their “posh digs” there were not very far from the working-class neighborhood where Lily herself had grown up.)

In a three-room flat on the road — with Nell Gwyn adorning the front room — Lily and the boys had delighted in the luxury of their la-di-da lifestyle, complete with a maidservant to look after their daily needs. Sunday was their favorite day. Lily’s most ostentatious indulgence was her weekly Sunday morning strolls with Charlie and Syd, parading up and down Kennington Road for all her former friends and acquaintances from the old neighborhood to see, if they chanced to pass by. Smartly turned out in jewels and finery, she loved showing off her boys, who were dressed to kill in children’s outfits whose expensive elegance advertised and celebrated her success as a music hall star.

Lily’s actual success, however, was as something rather different. What she was, during this period of magical prosperity in Charlie Chaplin’s early childhood, was a well-paid backup singer and mistress of an immensely successful music hall star, Leo Dryden. Exhaustive research in the Era (the nineteenth-century British equivalent of Variety) finds no mention of Lily Harley playing musical hall venues anywhere in England, Ireland, Scotland, or Wales as a solo artiste performing under her own name during this period.

The absence of a performer’s name in that show business newspaper of record was not definitive proof that his or her career was dead, dormant, or budding. Struggling players treading the boards in obscure venues could and did fall through the cracks. Failure to appear in the Era was suggestive but not hard evidence, as some of Chaplin’s previous biographers have assumed. In truth, it is impossible to trace any nineteenth-century music hall performer’s career with complete confidence by relying exclusively on the Era. That does not apply to music hall stars earning twenty-five pounds per week, however. Stage appearances by an actor or actress earning that much were duly noted in the Era. When Charlie’s glamorous actress-mother tucked him in, kissed him goodnight, and dashed off to the theater, it is clear she could not have been appearing as an artiste in her own right. She may have been wearing glittering stage makeup and diaphanous theatrical gowns, but Lily Harley was not the superstar that her impressionable and adoring young son thought she was.

Given the fact that Lily and the boys lived with Leo Dryden en famille during this two-and-a-half-year period, it’s likely that her financially successful show business career consisted at most of appearing onstage as a backup singer in her lover’s act. It is not known if Charlie and Syd were encouraged to think of Leo as a father, an uncle, or simply a close friend of Lily’s at the start of their liaison, but by the time Lily joyfully gave birth to their half brother Wheeler Dryden two years later, Charlie and Syd had certainly come to consider him a father figure. But when Leo then stole their six-month-old baby brother and ran away to Canada, they began to think of him as a monster who had devastated their mother and plunged her into a severe depression.

The only rational explanation for Leo’s cruelty was that by stealing the baby he was depriving Lily of an on going meal ticket. No matter how destitute his ex-mistress became or how much he continued to prosper as a music hall star, Dryden was off the hook permanently for child support payments. Leo’s fame and prosperity had undoubtedly contributed to Lily’s attraction to him in the first place. She probably thought when she “divorced” Charlie Sr., Cockney-style, that Leo Dryden or someone like him would be a much more successful match.

Whether she left her husband for Dryden or met Dryden after she left her husband is uncertain. What is indisputable is that, once again following her penchant for picking men to exploit who then exploited her, Lily mistook Leo’s glitter for substance and hitched her wagon to his star. Seven years earlier, her blind ambition had led her to tread that same self-destructive path with Sydney Hawkes. But having failed then as an eligible, childless young woman who sought prominence by marrying into the aristocracy, this time she set her sights on the more realistic goal of “marrying” a wealthy superstar and having his baby.

Viewed from Charlie Chaplin Sr.’s perspective, the experience of being twice rejected by the same woman was a painful reminder of his naïveté and her crass opportunism. After five years of marriage, he had returned home from a successful tour in the States (where he played the Union Square Theatre in New York City) to discover that he had once again been abandoned.

His namesake son was one and a half years old at the time. For the next seven years, father and son spent little if any time together, although they lived only a few minutes apart. During that period, as Charlie grew more mobile and more observant, there were increasingly frequent sightings of his sorely missed father, which he later recalled with devastating accuracy. Whether father and son saw each other so infrequently was Lily’s doing or Charles Sr.’s is unclear. But carefully filed among the many visuals in Chaplin’s childhood memory are a series of tracking and panning shots of drunks in motion — meticulously observed studies of the subtle variations in gait, posture, and tilt of body angle, all of which would serve as choreographic templates for his future repertoire of impersonations of alcoholics. Not surprisingly, Charlie’s ticket to Hollywood would be earned on the basis of the skill with which he played a comic drunk. In fact, long before he ever made a film, at least one theater critic had already declared Chaplin “the world’s greatest impersonator of inebriates and the biggest laughmaker on the vaudeville stage.”2

But unquestionably during the first few years after their “divorce,” Charlie Sr. was completely marginalized by his successor, who was financially supporting both of the children. The one known visit young Charlie paid his estranged father during this time was arranged by his mother. It took place at the nearby Canterbury Music Hall on Westminster Bridge Road, where the wide-eyed boy, then only three or four, sat in a red plush velvet seat in the orchestra pit while his father performed onstage. Considering the strained feelings between Lily and Charlie Sr. at the time, it’s unlikely that she took him backstage to visit his father after the show that night. (If she had, Chaplin would surely have mentioned it.) In any event, young Charlie never said what he saw his father perform that night. Still, enough is known of his father’s fifteen-year career in music hall to describe the kind of material his impressionable child might have observed. A talented character actor with a fine light baritone voice, handsome good looks, polished manners, an affable smile, and an aura of bonhomie, Charlie Sr. specialized in playing elegant swells, bon vivants, champagne-swilling men-about-town.

Arriving onstage resplendent in a tall silk hat, a frock coat with matching trousers, starched cuffs with an equally stiff bib dickey, and a formal batwing collar with a fastidiously knotted and billowing cravat, he sang (and dramatized with running stage patter) songs about the high life.

With a glass of bubbly in one hand and a walking stick in the other, he offered bone-weary laborers temporary respite from their hard lives through vicarious identification with the life of ease his stage character personified. After his act was over, it would be his great pleasure — in fact it was a job requisite — to meet and greet those same blokes at the bar and encourage them, by convivial example, to spend as much of their hard-earned money on beer, wine, or champagne as they could afford — or ill afford. His own conspicuous consumption of the most expensive wines and spirits on the refreshment list was, of course, on the house, courtesy of a management that carefully calculated the precise value of his artistry by the amount of drinking his act inspired.

If Lily Harley exploited her good looks and charm by playing flirtatious coquettes and adorable mignonnes to seduce her audiences, Charlie Sr. was a professional charmer in his own right. Offstage, they must have been a pleasing couple when they were young. Given their respective onstage personae, it’s easy to understand the original basis of their attraction and to imagine the powerful chemistry between them as teenage sweethearts.

But Charlie Sr.’s feelings for Lily Harley had been deeper than that. His acceptance of her on her return from South Africa in 1885 was remarkable. Arriving back in London broke, friendless, and pregnant, she made a beeline for her ex-sweetheart. Moving into a rooming house with her, he supported her emotionally and financially through the third trimester of her pregnancy with another man’s baby, married her three months later, and adopted and raised the child Syd as his own.

Based on their history, it’s easy to see why, when Leo walked out on her and the boys, Lily again made a beeline for Charlie Sr. By then, however, he was living with another woman whom he had “married,” Cockney-style, by sharing a home and having a child with her. Although he had finally become a major headliner and was, for the time being, in a financial position to help Lily, he was not inclined to do so. Suing Charlie Sr. first beseechingly and then in the courts, Lily was unsuccessful on both counts.

Since voluntary child support was not forthcoming, in the court hearing that followed, bitter accusations of adultery were traded back and forth. Rather than decide the question of who wronged whom, the court decided in favor of the children by awarding their mother fifteen shillings a week child support. But Charlie Sr., still deeply hurt by Lily’s betrayal of him with Leo Dryden, responded by simply refusing to keep up the payments. Setting out to support her brood, Lily sang for their supper till her voice literally gave out.

Young Charlie Chaplin never forgot the night his mother’s voice cracked. Not only did it mark the fatal downturn of their already declining fortunes, but Lily’s swan song also was, he claimed in his autobiography, his first night in show business as a performer. It was at the Aldershot Canteen, a dingy, smoke-filled hall jammed with rowdy drunken soldiers who delighted in heckling (and pelting) performers who failed to please them, driving the unlucky ones off stage. By now, not only was Lily forced to accept lesser bookings in noisier halls, which put a further strain on her delicate voice, but her straitened circumstances also forced her to dispense with the childcare services of her housemaid, which is why five-year-old Charlie was backstage that night.

I remember standing in the wings when Mother’s voice cracked and went into a whisper. The audience began to laugh and sing falsetto and to make catcalls. It was all vague and I did not quite understand what was going on. But the noise increased until Mother was obliged to walk off the stage. When she came into the wings she was very upset and argued with the stage manager who, having seen me perform before Mother’s friends, said something about letting me go on in her place.

And in the turmoil I remember him leading me by the hand and, after a few explanatory words to the audience, leaving me on the stage alone. And before a glare of footlights and faces in smoke, I started to sing, accompanied by the orchestra, which fiddled about until it found my key. It was a well-known song called “Jack Jones” that went as follows:

Jack Jones well and known to everybody 
Round about the market, don’t yer see, 
I’ve no fault to find with Jack at all, 
Not when ’e’s as ’e used to be.
But since ’e’s had the bullion left him 
’E has altered for the worst. 
For to see the way he treats all his old pals 
Fills me with nothing but disgust.
Each Sunday morning he reads the Telegraph,
Once he was contented with the Star.
Since Jack Jones has come into a little bit of cash,
Well, ’e don’t know where ’e are.

Halfway through, a shower of money poured onto the stage. Immediately I stopped and announced that I would pick up the money first and sing afterward. This caused much laughter. The stage manager came on with a handkerchief and helped me to gather it up. I thought he was going to keep it. This thought was conveyed to the audience and increased their laughter, especially when he walked off with it with me anxiously following him. Not until he handed it to Mother did I return and continue to sing. I was quite at home. I talked to the audience, danced and did several imitations including one of Mother singing her Irish march song.…

And in repeating the chorus, in all innocence I imitated Mother’s voice cracking and was surprised at the impact it had on the audience. There was laughter and cheers, then more money-throwing; and when Mother came on the stage to carry me off, her presence evoked tremendous applause. That night was my first appearance on the stage and Mother’s last.3

Lily’s theatrical dreams were rapidly eclipsed. But there was still the hope of an occasional windfall booking. While making the rounds of the agencies on the off chance she might fill some last-minute hole in a playbill, she was obliged to supplement those meager pickings by mending holes in other people’s clothes. After a brief stint as a ballet dancer at the Empire Theatre, she became a seamstress, doing fancy needlework for affluent women, a talent she had acquired earlier by sewing her own theatrical costumes.

Her wounded confidence only added to the quiver in her already failing voice whenever she faced an audience. But her old gusto returned when she played private command performances for her two most loyal fans, Charlie and Syd. Cheering herself up by basking in the admiration of her two spellbound sons, who still considered her divine, the twenty-nine-year-old violet-eyed soubrette slipped into her fading sequined gowns, donned her feathers and rhinestones, and serenaded the boys with her music hall routines, including her signature numbers as that coquettishly charming mignonne, Lily Harley.

Necessity forced her to pawn, one by one, her jewels, her fashionable clothes, and her prized possessions — including the beloved Nell Gwyn portrait. But she held on to her theatrical gowns, props, and wigs for as long as she could in the hope of staging a comeback. These were the last to go.

Given her need to pay the rent and make ends meet on a needleworker’s wages, which would have placed their family income at or near the poverty line and forced them to live in the worst slums in London, it’s reasonable to assume that she may have reluctantly supplemented her funds by exposing her children to a steady stream of awkwardly introduced “friends” and “uncles” who visited or spent the night.

After tracing every street address where Chaplin lived during this grim period in his life, one researcher concluded that his boyhood memories of his family’s Dickensian poverty were exaggerated because he and Lily never lived in the foul, dank, rat-infested hovels of the notorious London underworld of that time.

Anticipating such disbelief about the extent of his childhood poverty, Chaplin confided to a friend, Konrad Bercovici:

I shall never be able to tell anybody all the poverty and all the misery and all the humiliation we — my mother, my brother, and I — have endured. I shall never be able to tell, for no one would believe it. I myself at times cannot believe all the things that we have gone through.4

As to precisely what those humiliations were, three decades later Charlie told Konrad that he was toying with the idea of writing a real shocker. His personal memoir would be a sensational exposé on how the children of the poor learn the facts of life at a tender age. But instead of frankly revealing his showgirl mother’s unconventional sexual mores and hard-pressed survival tactics, when he finally did publish his autobiography at age seventy-five, Chaplin alluded to them with great dignity, saying simply: “To gauge the morals of our family by commonplace standards would be as erroneous as putting a thermometer in boiling water.”5

In that book Charlie recalls in loving detail how his beautiful young mother bravely coped with the oppressive drudgery of the menial labor she had fought so desperately to circumvent, nostalgically describing the wonderful legacy of her lunch breaks and work breaks in the snug and tidy slum garrets they called home. He wrote of a fastidious housekeeper and fiercely devoted mother, undaunted by poverty, who was determined to inspire both of her sons to better themselves by providing them with a primary education in the fine points of acting and the art of stagecraft.

During her respites from the tedium of fancy needlework, Lily would rummage through the playbills in her trunk and take the boys on trips down memory lane. She would not only enact whole scenes from plays but also render perfect imitations and satirical takeoffs of the distinctive performance styles and quirky personality traits of the famous actors and actresses of the day, from both the legitimate stage and the music halls. Teaching by example, she showed the boys how to “do” people. Her talent for mimicry passed to Charlie, who became famous for it, giving remarkable impromptu performances that people remembered for the rest of their lives.
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addition o an understanding of
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